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My Name is Michael Partain and I am the son and grandson of United States Marine Corps Officers. My 

parents were stationed aboard Marine Corps Base Camp Lejeune shortly after my father graduated from the 

United States Naval Academy. I was conceived, carried and then born at the base Naval Hospital while my 

parents lived in base housing. During the time of my mother’s pregnancy, we were exposed to high levels of 

tetrachloroethylene (PCE), trichloroethylene (TCE), dichloroethylene (DCE), benzene and vinyl chloride in 

the tap water provided to my family by the Marine Corps. Three years ago, I was diagnosed with male breast 

cancer at the age of thirty nine.  In fact, I am one of about sixty four men who share this unique commonality 

of male breast cancer and exposure to contaminated tap water aboard Camp Lejeune.  There is no history of 

the disease in my family and I tested negative for the hereditary breast cancer markers BRCA 1 and 2. I do not 

drink nor do I smoke.  

 

The history of the Camp Lejeune drinking water contamination has been chronicled in many forms over 

the past twenty six years since the first announcement made by the United States Marine Corps revealing the 

existence of drinking contamination problem aboard the base. Currently, the Department of the Navy and the 

Marine Corps beat a constant drum that the health, safety and welfare of their Marines, Sailors and their 

families has been and always will be a top priority for the Marine Corps
1
. In July of this year, the USMC 

distributed an informational booklet on the Camp Lejeune drinking water contamination to every member of 

Congress. This booklet is a testament to the mountain of lies and years of open deceit the service men, women 

and their families have endured since the drinking water contamination was first revealed.  

                                                 
1 USMC Camp Lejeune Historic Drinking Water Q&A Booklet, USMC July 2010. 
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Discovery of Camp Lejeune’s Drinking Water Contamination. 

The recent Marine Corps informational booklet first describes the discovery of the Volatile Organic 

Compound (VOC) problem at the base in the Executive Timeline by stating that “unidentified VOC’s 

interfered with total trihalomethane (TTHM) testing between 1980-1982. 
2
 A few pages later, the reader then 

discovers that “targeted” sampling in August 1982 identified the contaminants as tetrachloroethylene (PCE) 

and trichloroethylene (TCE). The reader is then told the chemicals were unregulated by the Safe Drinking 

Water Act at the time. 
3
 A careful examination of Marine Corps and Navy documents reveal a totally different 

scenario unfolded at Naval Facilities and Engineering Command (LantDiv) and the base after the initial 

warnings about the contamination poisoning the drinking water surfaced.   

 

On 1 October 1980 a representative from LantDiv arrived at Camp Lejeune to collect a composite 

sample from all eight water treatment plants in an effort to ensure there was no “Love Canal” present aboard 

the base. 
4
 Seven months prior to this visit, the State of North Carolina assumed primacy for the enforcement 

of the Safe Drinking Water Act. 
5
 Officials at LantDiv were worried that the State might find a problem with 

Camp Lejeune’s water that the Navy had not previously uncovered. If a problem was discovered, then further 

analysis of the eight individual systems would be done to locate the source of the problem.
6
 The results from 

the composite sample were released to LantDiv on 31 October 1980 and the composite samples showed 

contamination of the drinking water from PCE, TCE, dichloroethylene (DCE), and vinyl chloride just under 

                                                 
2 USMC CL Booklet page 4. 
3 USMC CL Booklet page 6. 
4 Camp Lejeune Water (CLW) USMC document 1818,  Pdf page 2, April 1989. These documents are found on an electronic 

library from ATSDR in the form of DVD discs accompanying the release of the Tarawa Terrace Water Model in 2007.  
5 CLW 425, March 1980. 
6 CLW 613, August 1982.  
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the detection limits set for the laboratory.
7
 According to the Base Supervisory Chemist, Elizabeth Betz, these 

results were not received at Camp Lejeune until June 1982. Ms. Betz documented in her memorandum for the 

record that she did not know how LantDiv determined the amount of water to take from each system to 

comprise the volume used in making the composite sample. Betz also recognized the percentage of total 

volume did not accurately reflect the corresponding usage for each system sampled or the daily flow of each 

system. Ms. Betz ominously noted that the 1980 analysis showed no problems for the priority pollutants listed 

for the eight water treatment systems aboard Camp Lejeune as a whole, but the same may not necessarily be 

true for each individual water treatment system aboard the base.
8
 No further investigation was initiated.  

 

The second laboratory to find contamination in Camp Lejeune’s drinking water was the U.S. Army 

Environmental Hygiene Agency (USAEHA lab) located in Ft. McPherson, Georgia. The laboratory was 

tasked by LantDiv to sample Camp Lejeune’s treated water for an upcoming EPA regulation concerning 

dangerous compounds formed during the treatment of potable water known as trihalomethanes (TTHMs). The 

initial samples were collected on 21 October of 1980 and the sample was read on 31 October 1980. The water 

system sampled was Hadnot Point and the sampling included a sample collected from the Naval Hospital’s 

emergency room sink. The Laboratory Chief, William Neal, was apparently concerned enough to take the 

time to hand write: 

“Water is highly contaminated with low molecular weight halogenated hydrocarbons” 

upon the analytical sheet delivered to LantDiv.
9
 This initial warning began a series from the USAEHA 

laboratory about the treated water produced by the Hadnot Point water treatment plant (WTP). These 

warnings took place between October 1980 through December 1981.  

1. “Heavy Organic Interference at CHCL2BR, You Need to Analyze for Chlorinated Organics by GCMS.”
10

 

                                                 
7 CLW 430 October 1980 and CLW 613 August 1982. 
8 CLW 613 August 1982. 
9 CLW 436, October 1980.  
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2. “You need to Analyze for Chlorinated Organics by GC/MC.”
11

 

3. “Water Highly Contaminated with other Chlorinated Hydrocarbons (SOLVENTS)!”
12

 

4. “Interferences on this Peak (CHCL2BR).”
13

 

 

Concurrently with the warnings from the USAEHA lab, another problem was discovered at the 

base’s Rifle Range water treatment plant (WTP). Potable water sampling was initiated at the Rifle 

Range WTP in 1981 at the request of LantDiv. The tests were ordered in response to concerns about the 

water system’s location to a nearby chemical dump.
14

 This chemical dump was registered with the EPA 

and had been in operation from sometime in 1959 until 1976.
15

 Between March and May of 1981 a 

series of potable water sampling revealed a similar organic contamination within the Rifle Range water 

distribution system. The findings precipitated a letter from LantDiv in July of 1981 which stated that 

Rifle Range well RR-97 contained low levels of organic contamination and two other wells were to be 

operated in preference to well RR-97.
16

 The Commanding General of Camp Lejeune then wrote the 

State of North Carolina and informed the state regulators that:    

“based on the laboratory analyses mentioned above and on-site inspections of the landfill and the Rifle Range system, 

LANTNAVFACENGCOM (LantDiv) officials have concluded that the Rifle Range drinking water meets current drinking 

water standards.” 

 

There was no mention to the State of the organic contamination found at the Rifle Range potable water 

system between March 1981 and May 1981.
17

 During this time, no known testing was performed on any 

of the 35 Hadnot Point potable water supply wells despite concurrent warnings from the USAEHA 

laboratory that Hadnot Point treated water was highly contaminated with (SOLVENTS)! Surprisingly, 

                                                                                                                                                                         
10 CLW 438, January 1981 
11 CLW 441, February 1981 
12 CLW 443, March 1981 
13 CLW 5739, December 1981, PDF page 2. 

 
14 CLW 5791, July 1981. 
15 Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (Cerlca) document 226, Pdf page 13, March 

1982. These documents are found on an electronic library from ATSDR in the form of DVD discs accompanying the release 

of the Tarawa Terrace Water Model in 2007. 
16 CLW 3757, Pdf page 3, July 1981. 
17 CLW 6124, Pdf page 1, August 1981.  
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LantDiv did have prior experience with VOC/organic contamination problems within Naval owned and 

operated water distribution systems. One year prior to the discovery of VOCs in Camp Lejeune drinking 

water systems, two Naval installations experienced PCE and TCE contamination. However, something 

different occurred at Warminster Naval Air Warfare Center and Willow Grove Naval Air Station. The 

contaminated wells producing PCE and TCE in the base’s drinking water were identified and closed.
18

 

Why did the Navy fail to implement testing of the potable water wells for each water distribution system 

aboard Camp Lejeune after the first indication of contamination was discovered? Why was the Rifle 

Range potable water distribution system treated differently from the Hadnot Point potable water 

distribution system? At the time of the testing in 1981, the Rifle Range WTP served only a few 

permanent houses and Marines temporarily training at the range. During this same time, the Hadnot 

Point WTP served the what is known as Main-side which included the base barracks, the Naval 

Hospital, and with that thousands of Marines, Sailors and their families. Where was the Marine Corps’ 

concern for the health, safety and welfare for their Marines, Sailors and their families?  

 

 By the Fall of 1981, the USAEHA laboratory experienced an equipment breakdown which 

resulted in a back log of work from Camp Lejeune and other Department of Defense installations. 
19

 A 

replacement laboratory was needed and a state certified laboratory was selected to continue Camp 

Lejeune’s mandated TTHM testing.  Grainger Laboratory was owned by Fred Grainger and Mike 

Hargett. The laboratory entered into a contract with Camp Lejeune to test the Tarawa Terrace and 

Hadnot point WTPs for TTHMs. This testing did not include testing for VOCs. The first sample for each 

of the distribution systems was collected in late April of 1982. The samples were analyzed for TTHMs, 

and as was the case with the USAEHA lab, solvents were found not only in the Hadnot Point samples 

                                                 
18 Public Health Assessments for Willow Grove NAS and Warminster Naval Air Warfare Center, The Agency for Toxic 

Substance and Disease Registry, 2002.  
19 CLW 468, Pdf page 2, February 1982. 
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but also in the newly tested Tarawa Terrace water distribution system.  Mr. Hargett then contacted Camp 

Lejeune’s Base Supervisory Chemist, Elizabeth Betz, and informed her that the synthetic organic 

cleaning solvents PCE and TCE were found in both samples submitted for both Handot Point and 

Tarawa Terrace. Ms. Betz then reported the findings to her supervisor, Danny Sharpe who then pushed 

them up the chain of command which included the base Utilities director Fred Cone. Eight days later, 

Ms. Betz briefed Col Millice , Assistant Chief of Staff, Facilities, and LtCol. Fitzgerald about the April 

TTHM test results. Ms Betz stated in her memorandum for the record that: 

“It Appeared to me that they had not been informed about the findings, I didn’t inform them.”
20

 

 

 Later that same month, a second series of samples were taken from the Hadnot Point and Tarawa 

Terrace water distributions systems.  This time there was a problem with the caps for the samples taken. 

However, Mr. Hargett advised Ms. Betz the solvents noted on the 6 May phone call were still present.
21

 

A second Grainger contract was written in July 1982 for additional testing of four samples taken from 

the water treatment plants for Tarawa Terrace and Hadnot Point. The first set of samples were collected 

from the raw water line which fed each plant from a distinct well field. The second set of samples were 

collected from the respective plant’s reservoir containing treated water. 
22

The results of this special 

testing for the Hadnot Point and Tarawa Terrace WTPs were compiled in a formal letter to the base on 

10 August 1982 by Grainger Laboratory chemist Bruce Babson. Mr. Babson wrote the Assistant Chief 

of Staff, Facilities:  

“Interferences which were thought to be chlorinated hydrocarbons hindered the quantification of certain 

Trihalomethanes. These appeared to be at high levels and hence more important from a health standpoint than 

the total Trihalomethane content. For these reasons we called the situation to the attention of Camp Lejeune 

personnel.”
23

 

 

                                                 
20 CLW 5176, Pdf page 5, May 1982.   
21 CLW 564, June 1982.  

 
22 CLW 589, July 1982.  
23 CLW 592, August 1982. 
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Mr. Babson also concluded that the well fields for the WTPs were the source of the contamination found 

in the water treatment plants. He identified the contaminants as PCE and TCE. 
24

 Disturbingly, Grainger 

Laboratory quantified TCE in a sample taken from the Camp Lejeune Naval Hospital at 1,400 ppb.  

Instead of immediate action to test each and every potable water well for VOCs/organic and ensure the 

health, safety and welfare of the service personnel and their families aboard Camp Lejeune was 

protected, an excuse was given to explain away Grainger’s confirmation of what the USAEHA and 

Jennings Laboratories both found in the potable water samplings from October of 1980.  

 

According to the recent USMC informational booklet for the Camp Lejeune Historic Drinking 

Water problem: 

“Base officials compared these results against EPA recommended levels and found the average levels of TCE 

and PCE were within those levels and thus not thought to be a health concern.”
25

 

 

The immediate problem with the current Marine Corps rendition of why no further action was taken 

after Grainger’s warnings is that their assertion that the TCE and PCE levels were within the EPA’s 

recommended levels is not true. The Base Supervisory Chemist, Elizabeth Betz noted in her findings 

that the levels of PCE at Tarawa Terrace exceeded the EPA’s recommended level of 40 ppb for long 

term exposures. Furthermore, the May TCE reading of 1,400 ppb taken from the Emergency Room sink 

of the base Naval Hospital was summarily dismissed with no explanation offered to explain the 

existence of the extreme levels of the chemical found in the sample or why the levels dropped to 20 ppb 

in subsequent testing. Only by arbitrarily dismissing the May 1,400 ppb TCE value does the Hadnot 

Point sampling fall into line with the EPA’s recommended values for chronic exposure to TCE.
26

Three 

months after Betz’s August 1982 memorandum for the record, the base performed the quarterly testing 

                                                 
24 CLW 592, August 1982. 
25 USMC CL Booklet, Page 7, July 2010.  
26 CLW 606, Pdf page 2, August 1982.  
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for TTHMs and sent the samples to Grainger Laboratory. Once again the analytical data sheets noted 

interference in the samples from Tarawa Terrace and Hadnot Point.
27

 Ms. Betz then called the Grainger 

Chemist, Bruce Babson to discuss a typographical error on his report. Mr. Babson then expressed his 

concern that the solvents which interfered in Hadnot Point’s testing which had previously dropped were 

relatively high again. 
28

Ms. Betz memorandum was forwarded to the Assistant Chief of Staff, Facilities 

and then on to the newly hired base Environmental Engineer, Robert Alexander.
29

 From that point on, 

the prolific note keeping and memorandums written by Elizabeth Betz inexplicably cease.   

 

  A prior flawed Government Accountability Office (GAO) sponsored investigation into the Camp 

Lejeune drinking water contamination cited entirely different reasons why the base failed to act after 

Grainger’s warnings in August 1982: 

“they had limited knowledge of these chemicals; second there were no regulations establishing enforceable limits 

for these chemicals in the drinking water; and third they made assumptions about why the levels of TCE and 

PCE varied and about the possible sources of the TCE and PCE.” 

 

“Specifically, because the levels of TCE and PCE varied, they attributed the higher levels to short term 

environmental exposures, such as spilled paint inside a water treatment plant, or to laboratory or sampling 

errors. Additionally, in an August 1982 memorandum, a Camp Lejeune official suggested that, based on the 

sampling results provided by the private laboratory, the levels of PCE detected could be the result of using coated 

pipes in the untreated water lines at Tarawa Terrace. 
30

 

  

Missing from the GAO’s limited review of the Camp Lejeune document inventory are two key 

documents which undermine the validity of the GAO investigation. The first document is an unusual 

Base Order written in 1974. Unlike most military orders, there are no references indicating on what 

authority or guidance the general issued the order. Base Order 5100.13B was written to inform the 

general’s command about the “Safe Disposal of Contaminants or Hazardous Waste.” What is significant 

                                                 
27 CLW 5183. Pdf page 25, December 1982.  
28 CLW 698, December 1982.  
29 CLW 703, January 1983.  
30 Report Defense Health Care: Activities related to Past Drinking Water Contamination at Marine Corps Base Camp 

Lejeune, Government Accountability Office, Pdf Page 30, May 2007.  
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about this order was that it clearly demonstrated that the Marine Corps knew at least by 1974 , or 

perhaps earlier if the prior copies of this order are ever found:  

 Organic solvents were hazardous materials, and 

 Improper disposal practices create hazards such as the contamination of drinking water. 

The designated disposal sites were the dumps located at the Rifle Range.
31

 Last year the Marine was 

asked by Senators Burr and Hagan from North Carolina whether the Marine Corps agreed that Base 

Order 5100.13B declared organic solvents hazardous. The official Marine Corps reply signed by 

Brigadier General Regner was: 

“The 1974 Base Order Speaks for itself.”
32

 

 

The second document was a set of potable water instructions dating back to 1963. The instructions are 

known as BUMED 6240.3B (1963) and revision 3C (1972). The Bureau of Medicine and Surgery 

(BUMED) was the entity within the Department of the Navy responsible for setting potable water 

standards for the Navy. While there were no set specific standards for VOCs/organic solvents within the 

instruction, there were preventive measures and requirements that if followed should have led to the 

disqualification for use, of most if not all, of the contaminated wells found at Camp Lejeune. The 

regulations contained a set of definitions to clearly specify the meaning of terms used within the 

document. Three key terms illustrate and provide a clear understanding that the Marine Corps had the 

ability to protect their Marines, Sailors, and families as early as 1963.  

Health Hazards means any conditions, devices or practices in the water supply system and its operation which create, or may create, a danger to 

the health and well-being of the water consumer. An example of a health hazard is a structural defect in the water supply system whether of 

location, design, or construction, which may regularly or occasionally prevent satisfactory purification of the water supply or cause it to be 

polluted from extraneous sources.  

 

Pollution as used in these standards, means the presence of any foreign substance (organic, inorganic, radiological, or biological) in water which 

tends to degrade its quality so as to constitute a hazard or impair the usefulness of the water.  

 

Chemical Characteristics Drinking water shall not contain impurities in concentrations which may be hazardous to the health of the consumers. 

It should not be excessively corrosive to the water supply system. Substances used in its treatment shall not remain in the water in concentrations 

                                                 
31 CLW 5996, Pdf page 2, June 1974.  

 
32 USMC Response to Senator Burr and Hagan Queries on Camp Lejeune, Pdf page 3, July 2009. 
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greater than required by good practice. Substances which may have deleterious physiological effect or for which physiological effects are not 

known, shall not be introduced into the system in a manner which would permit them to reach the consumer. 33 

 

To date, the Marine Corps has failed to provide Congress, the media and their Marines, Sailors and their 

families with a clear answer as to why these orders were not reviewed in the Commandant’s Blue 

Ribbon panel and why the Navy’s BUMED 6240.3B and 3C regulations were not followed. Four years 

after the closure of Hadnot Point well HP 602, the BUMED 6240.3C order was canceled and revised 

with NAVMEDCOMIST 6240.1. Missing from the new instructions were the definitions for Health 

Hazards, Pollution and the strong language found within the Chemical Characteristics section of 

BUMED 6240.3B and C.  The new regulations replaced what was then a more advance and 

comprehensive potable water standard with a new standard which was in agreement with the Safe 

Drinking Water Act.
34

 The existence of Base Order 5100.13B married with BUMED 6240.3B and C 

meant that the Marine Corps possessed at least an operational knowledge that organic solvents and other 

hazardous materials could and did contaminate the groundwater aboard Camp Lejeune as early as 1974 

and as such their groundwater wells were vulnerable.  Another word for this type of knowledge and lack 

of due care is called gross negligence.  

 

 The other fallacy cited above and contained in the GAO report was the assertion that vinyl lined 

asbestos coated pipes were the possible source for PCE contamination for the base. The basis for this 

fallacy is contained in a memorandum written by Elizabeth Betz asserting her opinion that she believed 

the contamination was possibly the result of vinyl line asbestos coated pipes in the raw water lines at 

Tarawa Terrace.
35

 The basis for this assumption was apparently due to a 9 April 1980 EPA bulletin 

which cited vinyl lined asbestos coated pipes as a source for drinking water contamination. The EPA 

                                                 
33 CLW 144, December 1972 
34 Naval Medical Command Instruction 6240.1, Naval Military Personnel Command, December 1988.  
35 CLW 5176, Pdf page7 , August 1982.  
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also noted that their suggested action guidance did not condone the presence of any level of PCE 

contamination in drinking water. 
36

The problem with Betz’s conclusion was that according to base 

construction records, no vinyl lined asbestos coated pipes were ever used in any of the base’s potable 

water distribution systems.
37

 

 Shortly after the Bruce Babson’s August Grainger Laboratory report arrived on the desk of the 

Assistant Chief of Staff, Facilities, a draft copy of the Navy’s Naval Assessment and Control of 

Installation Pollutants (NACIP) Initial Assessment Study (IAS) for Camp Lejeune arrived as an 

attachment to a 5 August 1982 letter from Wallace Eakes of LantDiv to Col Marshall at Camp Lejeune. 

Mr. Eakes requested Col. J. T Marshall, Assistant Chief of Staff, Facilities to review the Draft IAS for 

completeness, accuracy and concurrence for recommendations no later than 25 August 1982.
38

Col. 

Marshall completed his assigned task and replied on 25 August 1982. Contained in his comments for the 

Draft IAS: 

“It is important to note that accuracy of the data provided by U.S. Army Laboratory is questionable. It is 

recommended that TTHM information be de-emphasized throughout the report.”
39  

 

There was no mention of the August 1982 Grainger letter confirming the U.S Army laboratory’s 

findings from October 1980 and warning him that the potable water for Hadnot Point and Tarawa 

Terrace was highly contaminated with VOCs/Organic solvents in the Colonel’s 25 August reply to 

LantDiv. Four months later a change order to the IAS was executed to include two new disposal sites 

located on the base after the IAS team departed in March 1982. The base’s potable water contamination 

                                                 
36 CLW 391, April 1980.  
37 CLW 3884, Pdf page 4, September 1982 
38 CLW 6332, Pdf page 3, August 1982.  
39 CLW 6332, Pdf page 2, August 1982.  
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was not mentioned in the change order, nor were there any requests made to test the wells for Hadnot 

Point and Tarawa Terrace to locate the specific wells with VOC/Organic solvent contamination. 
40

  

 

The Initial Assessment Study for Camp Lejeune was released in April of 1983 and listed 76 

potentially contaminated sites aboard the base and 22 of these sites warranted further investigation in the 

form of a Confirmation Study phase of the NACIP program.  

“The Study concludes that, while none of the sites pose an immediate threat to human health or the environment, 

22 warrant further investigation under the Navy Assessment and Control of Installation Pollutants (NACIP) Program to 

assess potential long-term impacts. A confirmation study is recommended to confirm or deny the existence of the 

suspected contamination and quantify the extent of any problems which may exist.”
41

 

 

Nowhere in the 221 page document were there any recommendations to test any of the potable water 

wells for Tarawa Terrace and only 2 out of 35 wells were recommended for testing at Hadnot Point. 

42
How could the official Navy environmental (NACIP IAS) study for Camp Lejeune conclude there was 

no immediate threat to human health aboard the base if the report failed to address the Army and 

Grainger laboratory’s findings of VOC/Organic solvents in two of the base’s potable water system? A 

month after the release of the IAS, LantDiv Environmental Engineer and Engineer in charge of the 

Confirmation study for Camp Lejeune wrote a letter apparently addressing the ongoing VOC/Organic 

solvent contamination aboard the base. Unfortunately, that letter has since vanished. Sixteen years later 

the Wallmeyer letter, as it has since come to be known, was the subject of a four week document search 

at LantDiv.
43

 The letter was reportedly never found. According to a subsequent reference in a message 

from April of 1985, the Wallmeyer letter attempted to address the VOC/Organic Solvent contamination 

problem with the base’s potable water system.
44

 The problem was that the official Confirmation Study 

                                                 
40 Cercla 2059, December 1982.  
41 CLW 709, Pdf page 3, April 1983.  
42 CLW 709. Pdf page 29, April 1983.  
43 CLW 3039, Pdf pp 5&6, February 1999. 
44 CLW 1195, April 1985. 
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did not include any of the measures described in the message referencing the Wallmeyer letter. Was 

LantDiv attempting to quietly remediate the VOC/Organic solvent drinking water contamination without 

full disclosure of the problem to the State and Federal agencies? 

 

 As part of our investigation into what transpired aboard Camp Lejeune prior to the official 

announcement of the drinking water contamination in December 1984, we located and interviewed Mike 

Hargett and Bruce Babson, both formerly of Grainger Laboratory.  Curiously, neither of them were ever 

contacted by either the GAO or the Commandant’s investigations into the Camp Lejeune drinking water 

contamination. Mr. Hargett informed me that he had been asked by the Base Supervisory Chemist to 

accompany her in a meeting to explain the significance of Grainger’s findings. Mr. Hargett stated that 

the meeting lasted less than five minutes before they were dismissed.  Frustrated by the Marine Corps’ 

recalcitrance, Mr. Hargett then tipped off the State of North Carolina about the problems with the base’s 

potable water system. In June of 1983, a letter from the State’s environmental engineer, Mr. Elmore,  

arrived on Col. Marshall’s desk requesting the original copies of Grainger’s analytical data sheets 

instead of the tables summarizing them previously submitted by the Marine Corps.
45

 The analytical data 

sheets were exclusive property of the Marine Corps and written upon them were Bruce Babson’s 

warnings that PCE and TCE were interfering with the TTHM testing. Six months later this request was 

formally denied by the new Assistant Chief of Satff, Facilities, Col. Lilley. Col. Lilley advised Mr. 

Elmore that the original reports were not required and thus not submitted to the state.
46

 Sadly, the State 

of North Carolina agreed with the Marine Corps assertion and another opportunity to stop the drinking 

water contamination aboard Camp Lejeune slipped by and was forgotten.  Bruce Babson’s notations and 

warnings were toned down but the asterisk notating interferences with the TTHM testing remained on 

                                                                                                                                                                         
 
45 CLW 940, June 1983.  
46 CLW 6348, December 1983.  
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almost every known Grainger Laboratory analytical data sheet through the Sumer of 1984.  Ironically, it 

was another contamination problem with a different chemical which forced the VOC/Organic solvent 

drinking water contamination issue to the surface. When it did surface, the VOC/Organic solvent 

drinking water contamination was subsequently used to hide a more sinister contaminant, benzene.  

 

Massive fuel leaks at the Hadnot Point Fuel Farm. 

 The Hadnot Point Fuel Farm (HPFF) was constructed on the Southeast corner of Holcomb Blvd 

and Ash Street sometime in 1941. The fuel farm was comprised of fourteen fuel tanks buried in the 

ground and one large 600,000 gallon tank located above ground. The fuel farm was located in what is 

now known as the Hadnot Point Industrial area and within 1,200 feet from potable water well HP-602 

which was also constructed in 1941.
47

 The first documented fuel leak at the HPFF occurred in 1979 

when an estimated 20,000 to 30,000 gallons of fuel leaked from an underground valve.
48

 A condition 

survey for the HPFF was scheduled the following year and other problems were found at the HPFF. The 

LantDiv engineer concluded that because of age, failure to clean the tanks, and lack of maintenance, 

there had been a general condition of corrosion and deterioration of the tanks and connecting pipelines. 

Many of the interconnecting valves and flanges could not be inspected because they were buried and/or 

could not be located. The engineer recommended replacing the connecting piping, the inspection of all 

of the tanks for leaks and repair existing leaks.
49

 The Condition Survey was followed in 1981 with a 

Military Construction Data project number LE201M to repair the HPFF facilities and $537,200 was then 

allocated to clean and repair the petroleum tanks.
50

 By March of 1983, Navy and Marine Corps officials 

determined that piece meal rehabilitation of the HPFF was not cost effective and in 1985, the 

                                                 
47 Cerlca 417, Pdf page 5, December 1988.  
48 CLW 709. Pdf page 133, April 1983.  
49 Cercla 96, Pdf pp 11-16, June 1980 
50 Cerlca 96, Pdf page 17, March 1981. 
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recommendation was made to replace the HPFF with a new facility.
51

 The fuel farm was finally replaced 

in 1990.  

 

There are no known records indicating that the Marine Corps made any attempt to remediate the 

20,000 to 30,000 gallon 1979 fuel leak between 1980 and 1988. In May 1988 correspondence, the 

Assistant Chief of Staff, Facilities finally notified the State of North Carolina that a 15 foot thick fuel 

plume was contaminating the groundwater underlying the bulk fuel facility. 
52

The base Staff Judge 

Advocate, Col. Tokarz, noted that the fuel farm was losing fuel into the groundwater at the rate of 1,500 

gallons per month. The colonel also warned that delays will result in an indefensible waste of money and 

a continuing threat to human health and the environment.
53

  

 

 Knowing the existence of a massive 20,000 – 30,000 gallon fuel leak in 1979 which drained into 

the ground at the Hadnot Point Industrial area with no attempts to remediate or recover the lost fuel until 

at least 1989, leads a rational, prudent person to speculate why it took the Marine Corps five years to 

sample the nearest potable water well (HP-602) to ensure the well was free of fuel contamination. After 

all, BUMED 6240.3B and version C carried an obligation for the Marine Corps to make sure potable 

water was obtained from the most desirable source feasible and efforts be made to prevent or control 

pollution of the source.
54

 Where are the documents detailing these required efforts? Instead, the Marine 

Corps relies on their assertion that VOCs, including the SVOC benzene, were not regulated by the Safe 

Drinking Water Act until the late 1980’s and early 1990’s to avoid addressing the issue.
55

 Does there 

have to be a set standard or maximum containment level for a polluter to be negligent in their duties to 
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protect human health? Where does common sense enter into the equation?  Prior to 1984, there are no 

known records indicating that the Marine Corps took any action to protect the water supply for well HP-

602 from fuel contamination and consequently the entire Hadnot Point water distribution system.  

 

 One of the few potable water wells selected for sampling by the Navy’s NACIP program was 

well HP-602. The 1982 draft copy of the IAS report stated that well HP-602 was designated for 

sampling in the Confirmation study because it was located 1,100 feet down-gradient from the HPFF and 

actively pumping.
56

 The final IAS report released in April 1983 detailed the fuel losses for the HPFF 

totaled somewhere between 20,000 to 50,000 gallons of fuel. This figure became the basis for the fuel 

loss estimates for the public, Congress and more importantly, the Agency for Toxic Substances and 

Disease Registry (ATSDR), the agency tasked with studying the health effects resulting from the 

potential exposures at Camp Lejeune. This misconception remained until 2010 when it was discovered 

that the fuel losses at the HPFF amounted to much more than what was previously disclosed by the 

Navy and the Marine Corps. Once again a reference from the current Camp Lejeune informational 

brochure is appropriate.  According to the Marine Corps: 

“Question: Has the Marine Corps intentionally withheld information from ATSDR in order to delay their 

studies? 

 

 Answer: No. The Marine Corps has made extraordinary efforts to provide ATSDR access to any potentially 

relevant information we control. We recognize that this issue deals with complex science, and we have been 

working with ATSDR to get our former residents the answers they deserve in a timely manner.  

 

The Marine Corps does not benefit in any way from delays to ATSDR’s work. The people who were exposed are 

our family members and fellow Marines. We are much as anyone, want to be able to give them accurate answers 

in a timely manner.”
57

 

 

In March of last year, the ATSDR stumbled across a previously undisclosed web portal belonging to the 

Navy. A sub contractor to ATSDR was inadvertently given access to this portal by a Marine Corps’ 
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librarian. Contained within the NavFacEngCom’s Underground Storage Tank (UST) web portal were 

documents previously withheld from the ATSDR including details on the size and scope of the fuel loss 

from the Hadnot Point Fuel Farm underground storage tanks. According to documents discovered in the 

portal, the Marine Corps lost 1.1 million gallons of fuel at the HPFF over the course of the 49 year 

operational history of the facility. Much of this fuel was located within 300-1,100 feet away from well 

HP-602. The fuel was found at all levels in the aquifer including the deep aquifer. 
58

Where is the Navy’s 

notification to ATSDR advising them of the existence of this portal and the 1.1 million gallons of fuel 

trapped in the ground at Hadnot Point? What does the Navy and the Marine Corps stand to gain if the 

public, the scientists and Congress were not aware of the extreme nature of the loss fuel at the HPFF?  

 

 The Confirmation Study for Camp Lejeune commenced in May of 1984 with the release of the 

Work and Safety Plan. The work plan detailed how and where the sampling for the Confirmation Study 

was executed. The plan also detailed the schedule of the project and what reports were required by the 

contractor. The contractor was an Environmental Engineering firm from Gainesville, Florida known as 

Environmental Sciences Engineering (ESE). A monthly progress report was required by the 15
th

 day of 

each month for the duration of the contract. The tests results were scheduled to be evaluated between 

June and August and a draft report prepared by the end of August. The Final report was scheduled to be 

completed by 10 September 1984 and the presentation made on the same date.
59

 According to the 

May/June progress report, work was underway and 14 ground water monitoring wells were installed. 

The engineer noted a one week delay due to decontamination of equipment. 
60

 The June/July progress 

report advised the LantDiv engineer in charge of the Confirmation study that 36 of 75 wells (this 
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number included monitoring wells drilled for the study) were sampled. The sampling included site 22, 

the Hadnot Point Fuel Farm and well HP-602 (sampled 6 July 1984). A two week delay was noted due 

to equipment problems and the re-drilling of five new wells to replace wells inadvertently contaminated 

by an ESE subcontractor. The project was scheduled for completion on 4 August 1984. The samples 

were shipped to ESE laboratory in Gainesville, Florida for analysis.
61

After the 15 July progress report 

all documentation regarding ESE’s efforts on the Confirmation Study ceased until January of 1985. The 

August progress report and all subsequent progress reports are missing, as is the draft report 

summarizing the evaluation of data from the sampling.  

 

 The only clue to what transpired during the missing months between July 1984 and December 

1984 recently surfaced a few months ago when we located a State of North Carolina document written 

by Rick Shiver, N.C. Regional Hydrologist. The document was titled Groundwater Pollution Source 

Inventory and discussed the HPFF and the multiple leaking underground storage tanks (UST).  The 

inventory is dated 1 August 1984 and located in the groundwater pollution box is a handwritten circle 

indicating that the groundwater pollution was confirmed.
62

 At the time of this report, the State of North 

Carolina was supposedly not privy to the details of the Confirmation Study then underway at Camp 

Lejeune. The contractor was not required and did not report their findings to anyone else but the Navy 

personnel at LantDiv. What basis did Mr. Shiver have to conclude that the groundwater at the HPFF was 

contaminated with gasoline three months before the Marine Corps allegedly received ESE’s 

Confirmation Study report revealing fuel contamination at the HPFF and potable well HP-602.  

 

                                                 
61 Cercla 3429, July 1984.  
62 North Carolina Groundwater Pollution Inventory, Rick Shiver, August 1980 



Testimony of Michael Partain 
 

19 

 

 Last year Senators Burr and Hagan posed a series of questions about Camp Lejeune to the 

Marine Corps. One of these questions asked why the Navy and Marine Corps waited until 30 November 

1984 to close well HP-602. The Navy/Marine Corps replied: 

“According to the record, the Marine Corps did not “wait” to shut down well HP-602. Well HP-602 was taken 

out of service as of 21 November 1984 as part of the normal rotation of well (CLW 1089). Records indicate that 

the results from the 6 July 1984 sample were received by the base on 30 November 1984 (CLW 4546). Upon 

receipt of the sample results, well HP-602 was never reactivated and was permanently taken out of service.”
63

 

The document titled CLW 1089 is a Question and Answer sheet prepared for the base Environmental 

Engineer, Robert Alexander in advance of a media interview concerning the contamination found at 

Camp Lejeune. Judging from the context of the document, mainly the omission of well HP-651 

discovered contaminated in February 1985, the document was most likely written in December 1984. 

Mr. Alexander stated that benzene and industrial solvents were found in well HP-602 and then cited test 

results implying they were the results which closed well HP-602 in November of 1984. In fact, the test 

results on the Q&A sheet were collected on 3 December 1984, after the 30 November 1984 date in 

which the Marine Corps states that the base was allegedly notified that well HP-602 was contaminated 

and then closed. This mischaracterization of why well HP-602 was closed remained a fact until 2009.  

Mr. Alexander then wove a false sense of security for those potentially exposed by informing the 

community that all of the wells were located in the industrial area approximately 1 mile from the 

barracks.
64

 Did this mean that the wells only served the shops and offices in the industrial area and not 

the barracks? If well 602 was closed as a result of the receipt of ESE’s Confirmation Study results, then 

why was the July 1984 380 ppb finding omitted from the Q&A sheet? If well HP-602 was taken off line 

due to a normal rotation, then where are the well and plant production log books to support the 

Navy/USMC position? To date, the log books are all missing from the historical record for Camp 
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Lejeune. The Navy and Marine Corps also cite CLW 4546 as evidence that they closed well HP-602 

upon receipt of the ESE Confirmation Study. The document was written after the Bob Alexander Q&A 

sheet and at least three months after well HP-602 was closed.
65

 The lack of primary supporting evidence 

on how the contamination at Hadnot Point was discovered is extremely disturbing.  Why is everyone 

trusting the very entity who polluted the drinking water aboard Camp Lejeune to tell and not show us 

how it happened?  Where is the November transmittal sheet for the ESE Confirmation Study? Where is 

the draft ESE Confirmation Study due in August 1984? Where is the telephone record log or 

memorandum to the base ordering them to close well HP-602 on 30 November 1984? Why was the 

Hadnot Point WTP tested for benzene only after the contaminated well was closed? Where are the 

missing progress reports from ESE? Where are the missing well and plant production log books? Every 

shred of evidence which would either condemn the Navy and Marine Corps or exonerate them is 

missing. Why?  

 

A December 1984 base news paper article assured their readers that none of the organic 

compounds found in the base’s water were listed under the Safe Drinking Water Act. The article ended 

with a chilling quote from the base environmental engineer, Robert Alexander: 

“Every effort will be made to maintain the excellent quality water supply traditionally provided to the residents of 

Camp Lejeune.”
66

 

 

Finally on 8 January 1985 a memo from LantDiv indicated that the Navy agreed to officially look at the 

other systems on the base for possible drinking water contamination.  ESE, the Confirmation Study 

contractor was then assigned the task to sample all of the wells on the base for VOCs.
67

 The ESE 

Evaluation of Data Report was released a week later. According to the project schedule previously 
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discussed, the report was due in September 1984 and was four months late. Within the report, ESE 

indicated that there was extensive fuel contamination at the HPFF. The contractor wrote in their report: 

“Of extreme importance is the high level of benzene (380 ppb) detected in the sample collected from the deep 

water supply well No. 602 (Well 22GW3). This benzene concentration far exceeds the 10 to minus 5 human 

health risk limit of 6.6 ppb; therefore, the use of this well should be discontinued immediately.” 

 

On the margin a curious handwritten from an unknown LantDiv official note reads: 

 

“We must send them our (1141’s) report on well data, what it means and what wells to keep shut down.” 

 

“ The absence of contamination at Well 22GW2 indicates that the migration pathway is deep and not shallow.”
68

 

 

The Evaluation of Data report did not discuss the VOCs found in Tarawa Terrace beginning in 1982 and 

no wells in that system were sampled during the July 1984 testing period. The report also noted that 

subsequent to the July 1984 testing, well HP 602 experienced a dramatic increase in organic solvents 

after further testing by LantDiv. They concluded that the main industrial area was a logical source of the 

solvents. 
69

This industrial area included the HPFF, the base maintenance shops, and building 1115 (the 

former Fleet Refueling and Service area). Also included in the industrial area were several water supply 

wells, among them was well HP-602. These wells all served the Hadnot Point WTP and were a source of 

drinking water for the service men, women and their families living within the treatment plant’s service 

area. Later that year, when the State of North Carolina asked for copies of the ESE report, the Marine 

Corps refused: 

 “as the Marine Corps disagrees with the conclusions in this report, it will not release a copy of it to any outside 

agency.”
70

 

 

 

VOC contamination in well HP-651 and Tarawa Terrace 

 

 By then end of January 1985 it appeared that LantDiv and base officials had a handle on the 

VOC contamination found at Hadnot Point. They had closed 10 supply wells for the system and the 

water treatment plant appeared to be free of benzene and TCE. Two phone calls from residents in 
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Paradise and Berkley manner set off a series of events which ultimately changed the course of the 

contamination story. The calls were concerning a gasoline smell in the drinking water provided by the 

Holcomb Boulevard WTP. The calls resulted in the discovery of a leaking generator fuel line at the 

treatment plant allowing gasoline to collect in the plant’s reservoir. The plant was shut down and two 

connecting transfer valves were opened allowing Hadnot Point to supply water to the service area served 

by Holcomb Boulevard.
71

 Prior to 1972, the Holcomb Blvd area was serviced by the Hadnot Point WTP 

and the intra-connection was preserved when the new plant began production. From January 27
th

 

through February 4
th

, Hadnot Point supplied all the treated water for Hadnot Point and the Holcomb 

Blvd systems. During this time, the Holcomb Blvd system was repeatedly flushed and cleaned. The state 

was brought in and split water samples were taken after the plant was cleaned.
72

 However, unbeknownst 

to Navy and Marine Corps officials, one contaminated well had been missed in earlier testing for VOCs.  

 

 Well HP-651 was located along Piney Green Road and immediately adjacent to Lots 201 and 

203, the base junkyard. Lots 201 and 203 was one of the 22 sites targeted for additional study but for 

some reason, well HP-651 was not selected to be sampled in July 1984.
73

 The well site selected in 1971 

by LantDiv engineers and installed in 1972. It is not known whether the engineers involved in selecting 

the site for well HP-651were knew of BUMED 6240.3c and the preventive measures built into the 

Navy’s potable water regulations. It was their job to know and comply with these regulations. How 

could they possibly begin to justify the selection of a potable water supply well site less than 300 feet 

from the base junk yard and the base VOC disposal area (site 82).
74

 This one well was the sole source 
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for the horrific VOC readings found in the January 1985 samples taken from the Holcomb and Hadnot 

Point WTP service areas received in February of 1985.
75

  

 
From Distribution 
Pump Bottom of Reservoir Middle of Reservoir Top of Reservoir  Fire Hydrant  

TCE Reading  900.02 ppb 24.2 ppb 25.8 ppb 26.8 ppb 849.0 ppb 

DCE Reading 321.3 ppb 7.4 ppb 7.8 ppb 7.6 ppb 340.0 ppb 

      

Location  Berkley Manor Elem. 
MOQ 2212 Cold 
Water 

MOQ 2212 Hot 
Water Building PP 2600  Tank S-2323 

  Bldg 5400 
Chief of Staff 
residence 

Chief of Staff 
residence Firehouse 

Water Storage 
Tank 

TCE Reading  1148.4 ppb 724.7 ppb 612.9 ppb 890.9 ppb 407.1 ppb 

DCE Reading 406.6 ppb 249.4 ppb 201.2 ppb 332.4 ppb 159.0 ppb 

      

Location  
Married officer’s 
Qtrs Tank SLCH 4004 Bldg BM 5677 Bldg BM5531  

 
Fire Hydrant MOQ 
2204 Storage Tank     

TCE Reading  839.6 ppb 318.3 ppb  981.3 ppb 905.5 ppb  

DCE Reading 307.6 ppb 107.5 ppb 368.7 ppb 335.0 ppb  

 

 

Well 651 was sampled and closed on 4 February 1985. The tests were completed on 8 February 1985. 

Both the January and February samples taken from well HP-651 were contaminated with extreme 

amounts of organic solvents.  

 
Samples for Well 651 PCE TCE DCE Vinyl Chloride 
January 16, 1985 386 ppb 3,200 ppb 3,400 ppb 655 ppb

76
 

February 4, 1985 400 ppb 18,900 ppb 7,580 ppb 168 ppb
77

 

 

In their apparent attempt to demonstrate to the State of North Carolina their good stewardship of the 

environment, the Navy and Marine Corps inadvertently and independently documented the worst VOC 

contaminated supply well on the base and its corresponding affect on the finished water supplied to the 

residents of Camp Lejeune.  

 

The Tarawa Terrace (TT) water distribution system test results for VOCs were received on the 

heels of the confirmation of contamination in well HP-651. Just as Mike Hargett and Bruce Babson had 
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warned the base in 1982, The Tarawa Terrace well field was highly contaminated with VOCs, 

Specifically wells TT-26 and TT-23.
78

  

Samples taken 
1/25/85 PCE TCE DCE Vinyl Chloride 

TT-26 1580 ppb 57 ppb 92 ppb 27 ppb 

TT-23 132 ppb 5.8 ppb 11 ppb 0 ppb 

 

A subsequent test found the finished water provided to the families at Tarawa Terrace contained 215 ppb 

of PCE.
79

 The contaminated wells were then immediately closed, almost three years after the initial 

warning from Mike Hargett and Grainger Laboratory.   

 

 The water supply problems at Tarawa Terrace presented the Navy and Marine Corps a different 

and more complex problem than with the Hadnot Point and Holcomb Blvd WTPs. Like the other 

treatment plants, the TT system served a large residential population with treated water. Unlike the other 

two systems on main-side, there was not intra-connection in the advent of an emergency. To further 

complicate the issue, the availability of raw water for the TT well fields was limited. Even before the 

closure of wells TT-26 and 23, TT was experiencing trouble with the availability of raw water for the 

treatment plant. A memo from W. R. Price, the Utility System Operator General Foreman, warned that 

the existing well field was unable to keep with the demands placed on the TT system and that continued 

over use of the wells in the system without periodic rest could lead to well failures.
80

 With the closure of 

wells TT-26 and TT-23, Tarawa Terrace was expected to experience a 300,000 gallon per day shortfall 

of water for the residents of TT.  
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 On 1 March 1985, a staff meeting for the Assistant Chief of Staff , Facilities was held on the 

base. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss water alternatives for Tarawa Terrace. A list of seven 

alternatives was developed by Colonel Lilley, Assistant Chief of Staff, Facilities.  

1.     Install a new well at Tarawa Terrace. The problem with a newer well was that water, in significant quantities was 

difficult to locate at Tarawa Terrace. Estimate cost: $80,000. 

2.     Transport water via tanker trucks from other water plants. However, the logistic of hauling 300,000 gallons per day 

was questionable. Estimated cost: $2,000 per day.   

3.     Tap into existing City of Jacksonville water line under Lejeune Blvd. There was a concern that the city may not be 

able to provide the water and there was a fear that the city would request reciprocating favors to the Marine Corps. 

Estimated cost: Unknown.  

4.     Change the existing contract for Holcomb Blvd to construct a water line to Tarawa Terrace immediately. The 

contractor was thought to be unable to perform this option in the time frame required. Estimate cost: Unknown.  

5.     Construction of a 8inch raw water line from Brewster Blvd to Tarawa Terrace across the railroad trestle on 

Northeast Creek. At the time, it was unknown if the state would approve the measure. Estimated Cost: $75,000. 

6.    Modify Tarawa Terrace plant to include aeration or granular activated carbon unit capable of removing VOCs. The 

alternative was rejected because of they felt the modifications could not be made in the time frame required. 

Estimated Cost: $300,000. 

7.     Re-activate and use contaminated well(s) that have been closed if required to maintain adequate water levels 

and pressure. Lack of Federal MCLs for VOCs or restrictions for using VOC contaminated water is used to justify 

this measure. However, the brief also reads “the potential health hazards must be weighed against the need and cost 

of providing water from other sources.” (Please see entry for BUMED 6240.3B and 6240.3C and note the language 

concerning chemicals in the water: “substances which may have a deleterious (harmful) physiological effect or for 

which the physiological effects are not known, shall not be introduced into the water system in a manner which 

would permit them to reach the consumer.” Estimated Cost: zero. 

Alternative 5 was selected for implementation but the estimated completion date was 5 June 1985 and 

state approval for the project was needed. There was no discussion concerning how to provide for the 

impending water shortage during while the auxiliary line was under construction.
81

 Two days prior to 

the meeting, a letter from the Calgon Activated Carbon Division in response to a LantDiv inquiry about 

emergency potable water treatment systems for VOCs arrived at LantDiv. Calgon advised LantDiv that 

based on the organic solvent and its corresponding concentration supplied by LantDiv, they could 

deliver as system capable of treating the potable water within 24-48 hours.
82

 The Calgon system was 

never ordered According to Marine Corps documents, VOC contaminated well TT-23 was operated and 

supplied water to the residents of Tarawa Terrace on at least three different occasions until the 
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temporary water line was completed in June of 1985.
83

 The Tarawa Terrace WTP was finally closed on 

1 March 1987. According to the water model completed by ATSDR in 2007, Tarawa Terrace remained 

contaminated with VOCs throughout this time period.  

 

The USMC’s Camp Lejeune contaminated drinking water media and public relations campaign. 

 

At no point between the first warning of a problem with the base water supply discovered in 

October 1980 and the appearance of the first announcement informing the residents of the base that their 

drinking water was contaminated in December 1984, were any of the residents and the State of North 

Carolina informed about the contaminants found in the Hadnot Point and Tarawa Terrace drinking water 

systems. The first indication of a problem from the Marine Corps was an article announcing the 

commencement of the Confirmation Study. The article appeared in the base newspaper and was titled 

“Environmental Study kicks-off.” Col. Lilley advised the residents of the base that” 

“while contractors will routinely wear personal protective equipment such as chemical resistant overalls, 

we do not expect to expose anyone to any contaminants. The results of the survey are due in August 1984. If any 

contaminants are discovered, a review of alternatives will determine action necessary to meet health and 

environmental standards.”
84

 

 

What the Colonel failed to inform the residents was that they were already being exposed. The survey 

referenced in the article was the Confirmation Study. 

 

 The first announcement of drinking water contamination occurred in December 1984 when the 

base newspaper informed the residents of Camp Lejeune that: 

“Environmental officials here are taking precautionary measures to ensure drinking water is free from possible 

contamination.” 
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“As a result of water sampling taken on 3 December, four wells in the Hadnot Point industrial area were found 

to contain some traces of organic contamination.” 

 

“none of the compounds noted in the test samples are listed in the regulations under the Safe Drinking Water 

Act.” 

 

“Testing is being conducted as part of a basewide confirmation study which is currently underway to verify 

whether any groundwater contamination exists.” 

 

“Daily water samples are being taken from the water treatment plant to ensure drinking water remains within 

prescribed federal and state guidelines established by the Safe Drinking Water Act.” 

 

“Every effort will be made to maintain the excellent quality water supply traditionally provided to the residents of 

Camp Lejeune.”
85

 

 

 

On 30 April 1985, the Commanding General of Camp Lejeune issued a Notice to Residents of Tarawa 

Terrace informing them that two supply wells for TT were taken off line because “minute (trace) 

amounts of several organic chemicals have been detected in the water.” The general then stated there 

were no definitive State of Federal regulations for the “compounds” and that as a “precaution” he 

ordered them closed. The remainder of the memo discussed the impending water shortages expected at 

Tarawa Terrace. At no point were the residents informed that well TT-23 had been used to supply water 

to them after its closure.
86

 The next series of newspaper articles appeared in May 1985. The Jacksonville 

Daily News titled their article “Chemical discovered in Lejeune water wells.” The article informed the 

reader that: 

“Substances found in the wells were described today as volatile organic chemical by Gunnery Sgt John Simmons 

of Lejeune’s Joint Public Affairs Office. He said he had no information on whether the well water was 

dangerous to humans.”
87

 

 

The Wilmington Morning Star’s article was contained more details and false assurances than the Daily 

News. The State head of the Water Supply Branch which regulates drinking water in North Carolina was 

quoted as stating” 

“he did not think Camp Lejeune residents need to worry about getting bad drinking water. I think we kind of 

caught it right at the beginning.” 
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Another paper expanded this quote to include “It’s not something that has been running for two or three 

years.”
88

 

 

Base Spokesman Gunnery Sergeant John Simmons ended the article with what has become a standard 

Marine Corps anthem regarding the Camp Lejeune drinking water contamination and then wrapped it in 

a total fabrication.  

“Simmons stated that while there were no state or federal regulations that mandate an unacceptable level of such 

contaminants in drinking water, “we ordered the closure of all wells that showed even a trace amount.”
89

 

 

 

These three articles and the general’s notice to Tarawa Terrace constituted the first notifications that 

personnel and their families aboard Camp Lejeune received for an exposure that they could not touch, 

taste, see nor hear. They were relying on the Marine Corps to protect them and their families and for 

their trust they received and continue to receive betrayal.  

 

 As time passed between the discovery of the drinking water contamination and the news reports 

the Marine Corps’ story began to change. An important point to remember is that Camp Lejeune, like 

many military bases, has a large mobile population. Some families spent years at the base while others 

rotated out over a period from months to years. By September of 1985, the Marine Corps’ story became 

more direct as evidenced by a quote from the base Environmental Engineer, Robert Alexander, the same 

person who received Betz’s memo in January 1983 concerning Grainger’s tests performed on the 

Hadnot Point and Tarawa Terrace WTPs and the water provided to the system’s consumers: 

“Alexander said the 22 sites are not considered dangerous because only trace amounts of contamination have 

been found to have escaped from the dumps. He said that people had not been directly exposed to the pollutants.” 

 

“the last thing we want to find is that there is a large piece of Camp Lejeune that can’t be used because of toxic 

waste disposal.” 

 

“Alexander said there is no clear relationship between the closing of the wells and any specific waste site.” 
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“The way we got onto the well problem was in sampling near one of our fuel farms, or fuel storage facilities. We 

sampled nearby wells. In one near the fuel farm, we didn’t detect fuel but did detect organic solvents.”
 90

 

 

 

The same article also informed the reader that: 

“Eight (wells) had been tainted by small amounts of fuel and solvents used to clean weapons and vehicles. 

Solvents found in two of the wells, in a residential neighborhood at the northern edge of the base, have been 

tentatively linked to civilian dry-cleaning firms in nearby Jacksonville.” 

 

“No one has been harmed by the wastes.” 

 

“Linton (EPA) said the most serious problem at Camp Lejeune was contamination of the groundwater with 

solvents that are suspected of causing cancer.” 

 

“Col. Tiebout, Camp Lejeune’s assistant chief of staff for facilities characterized all of the actions so far- closing 

wells, relocating the day care center, and extensive testing-as precautionary measures.”
91

 

 

In the public arena, fact was becoming fiction and the Marine Corps’ spin on what transpired at the base 

between 1980  and 1984 was rapidly solidifying into reality. Behind the scenes, the EPA moved to force 

Camp Lejeune onto the National Priority List (NPL) also known as the Superfund list. In a meeting 

which took place at the base in November of 1985, Robert Alexander told the EPA that their 

contractor’s report was in error and resisted the idea of placing the base on the NPL.
92

 Somehow or 

another, the EPA walked away with the idea that no contamination was detected in treated potable water 

at the Hadnot Point WTP.
93

 Two weeks after this meeting, the treated water at the Hadnot Point WTP 

was sampled and found to contain benzene in the extreme amount of 2,500 ppb.
94

 The analytical data 

sheets for this test and a subsequent benzene finding several weeks later are both missing. There are no 

known notifications of this finding to the residents at Camp Lejeune and the words “Not Representative” 

were handwritten over the 14 November 1985 test results for the Hadnot Point WTP.  The false 
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contention that people were not directly exposed to the pollutants appeared again in a media story 

detailing the contamination written in January 1986.
95

 

 

 On Christmas Eve 1987, the Jacksonville Daily News again repeated Robert Alexander’s 

September 1985 assertion that people had not been directly exposed to the pollutants.  The paper also 

informed the public that the EPA was considering Camp Lejeune for the NPL. The contamination 

steadily devolved into “traces of TCE, DCE and PCE.” The fuel found at Hadnot Point had entirely 

disappeared in the media. 
96

  

 

Colonel Thomas Dalzell, Assistant Chief of Staff, Facilities was designated as the overall 

coordinator for Camp Lejeune’s incorporation onto the National Priorities List. In February 1988, he 

was featured in a question and answer press release which became the basis for several media news 

stories on the drinking water contamination aboard the base.  

“Q. Is my health or the health of my family in any danger?  

 

A. No it’s not. All the wells which we get our raw water out of are continually tested and the wells that were 

identified as being contaminated have been closed off.” 

 

“Q. What about prior to 1983? 

 

A. At that time we were not aware of any of these particular compounds that might have been in the ground 

water and we have no information that anyone’s health was in any danger at that time.” 

 

“Q. What are the long term effects of exposure to these contaminants? 

A. Heavy long term exposure to these chemicals could cause some health hazards, depending on the amount of 

chemical ingested.” 

 

Q. What was the source of the contamination? 

 

A. Most of the sources of contamination were the motor pools that existed down in the Hadnot Point area. At   

that time oil, greases, solvents, gasoline and cleaning fluids and other types of chemicals were just being 

dumped in the ground or dumped in sewers or things like that; and we were really not aware back in the 60’s 
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and 70’s of the effects on groundwater contamination. Now we are more aware of these things and have 

taken appropriate precautions to ensure the ground water contamination is not progressing any further.”
97

 

 

How could the man placed in charge of coordinating the placement of Camp Lejeune on the NPL be 

ignorant of the fact that warnings about the contamination began in October of 1980? Was his claim that  

there was no knowledge of the drinking water contamination prior to 1983? Was this misrepresentation 

fabricated by design or ignorance?  

 

 The massive Hadnot Point Fuel Farm fuel spill surfaced again in late 1988. The attention was 

more than likely due to the impending release of O’Brien and Gere’s Final Report for the Contaminated 

Ground Water Study at Hadnot Point.
98

 The engineer’s report detailed large losses of fuel from the 

HPFF and a fuel plume 15ft thick was identified  floating in the semi confined aquifer at Hadnot Point. 

Once again, Marine Corps statements in the media did not match up what was actually known at the 

time. A Jacksonville Daily News article titled “Base officials study cleanup of fuel leaks” appeared in 

print in October.  

“leaks from an underground tank system were confined to an are two square blocks around the fuel farm.” 

 

“The spill is contained by the section’s natural flat terrain and water table conditions.” 

 

“the number of gallons leaked is unknown.” 

 

“Cleanup is expected to start after final design of a fuel recovery system. Recovered gasoline products are 

expected to be recycled for use on the base.”
99

 

 

 

By the following year, the base was ready for listing on the NPL and the old pattern of “no single 

source had been found for the chemicals (solvents) along with the 1983 IAS conclusion that none of the 

22 sites selected for further investigation posed an immediate threat to human health were rehashed in 
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the media.
100

 Of the 22 sites, the Hadnot Point Fuel Farm was designated as the first site to be cleaned 

up once Lejeune was placed on the Superfund list.
101

 Camp Lejeune was officially added to the NPL in 

October 1989. Shortly before the base was listed on the NPL an article appeared in the base newspaper 

featuring Base Supervisory Chemist, Elizabeth Betz who had laboriously documented the early stages of 

the contamination from May 1982 through January 1983.  

“You’d have to look at each VOC individually, but many of them are carcinogens. That’s the main reason we 

immediately shut the wells down, although the levels we found in the tests were not near the EPA limit.” 

 

“We were puzzled when the chemicals showed up. At first, we couldn’t figure out how it had gotten into the 

Tarawa Terrace system. Then we looked across Highway 24. There were dry-cleaning businesses right across the 

road from the housing area.” 

 

“Once you have identified where the potential for a threat is, you start taking action to correct it. You can not 

leave a contaminant in the groundwater.”
102

 

 

  

 The Marine Corps controlled the message and information surrounding the details of the 

drinking water contamination at Camp Lejeune. With the addition of Camp Lejeune onto the NPL, the 

Marine Corps was required to establish and administrative record for public use. This repository is 

located in the Onslow County Public Library. The problem is that a large number of personnel and 

families exposed at Camp Lejeune no longer live near the base to have access and view the CERCLA 

library. Beginning in the mid to late 2000’s, the Marine Corps placed portions of the administrative 

record on the internet. The online library is known as the “Baker website.” This website is cumbersome 

and largely unusable. A brief document library appeared on the USMC’s website but was removed after 

the Congressional hearing in 2007. Without access to original sources of information, the affected 

community is left to the mercy and whim of the Marine Corps. A breakthrough in gathering information 

occurred in 2007 with the release of ATSDR’s water model for Tarawa Terrace. The corresponding 

discs contained electronic files of the Marine Corps’ Camp Lejeune Water document library and the 
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Cercla administrative record. Through these discs the affected community has had the opportunity to 

educate ourselves and revisit the Marine Corps’ version of what happened at Camp Lejeune.  

 

Our advantage is the Corps told their lies up front. The truth is in their documents and they do 

tell a far different story than what the Marine Corps has asserted to the media and Congress. What is 

now needed is for an authoritative body such as Congress to work objectively with the Marine Corps 

and the affected community to ascertain what really happened at Camp Lejeune and what chemicals we 

were exposed to in our drinking water aboard the base. The stumbling block is that our government is 

the source and remedy for this issue and there is an inherent conflict of interest in securing the full and 

objective co-operation of the various agencies capable of providing the answer and ultimate relief from 

our exposures.  

 

The recent Marine Corps informational brochure proudly boasts that the USMC has investigated 

three separate times and found to be exonerated of blame in the contamination.
103

 Each of these prior 

investigations occurred before the release of the initial electronic document library to the public and our 

subsequent enlightenment of what transpired at Camp Lejeune during the contamination period.  Both 

the Commandant’s 2004 Blue Ribbon panel and the Government Accountability Office (GAO) 2007 

Report on Camp Lejeune share a common fatal flaw. Each report failed to identify the true extent of the  

fuel problem at Hadnot Point, the Navy and Marine Corps’ own internal directives and standards  for 

potable water systems aboard Naval vessels and facilities, including Camp Lejeune and the Marine 

Corps’s 1974 Base Order identifying Organic Solvents as hazardous materials. Each report failed to 

locate and interview the owner and lead chemist from Grainger Laboratory concerning the events in 
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1982. Instead, the reports relied on LantDiv and base employees who, to one degree or another, seemed 

to suffer a collective form of selective memory.  In fact, during the 2007 Congressional “Poisoned 

Patriot’s” hearing, Chairman Bart Stupak asked the EPA’s Special Agent, Tyler Amon if he had 

personally recommended that obstruction of justice charges be brought up against the former LantDiv 

and base personnel who appeared to have been coached and were uncooperative with his investigation. 

Agent Amon confirmed that he had identified areas of concern for obstruction of justice charges but 

these recommendations were overruled by the Department of Justice.
104

This same department is 

currently tasked with representing the government (the Navy and USMC) for any and all Federal Tort 

claims filed because of the Camp Lejeune drinking water contamination. This blatant lack of objectivity 

by the Department of the Navy continues to this day. Early this summer, the Secretary of the Navy 

established a Camp Lejeune Assistance Team (CLAT) in response to the pressure placed upon the Navy 

by Congress, the media and the affected community over the recent discoveries pertaining to the Hadnot 

Point Fuel Farm and the electronic portal. The CLAT is tasked to provide a report to Secretary Mabus. 

There is no input whatsoever from the affected community nor is there any shred of independent 

oversight or objectivity. Members of the CLAT are required not to do anything which may compromise 

the Navy;s legal defense against the families. All in all, the CLAT, as with the prior government 

investigations into Camp Lejeune’s contaminated drinking water, sounds like a classic case of the 

“Emperor’s New Clothes”  

 

Perhaps one the most important single recent event in the Camp Lejeune contaminated drinking 

water story occurred last April when the ATSDR withdrew their flawed public health assessment (PHA) 

for Camp Lejeune. The assessment was fraught with errors including but not limited to, improper usage 
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of exposure duration and dosage models used to characterize our risks for adverse health outcomes, the 

disappearance of the assessments supporting references and interviews, and the omission of benzene 

from the 1997 Camp Lejeune Public Health Assessment.
105

 The Camp Lejeune PHA failed to recognize 

that our exposures on the base surpassed mere occupational settings. The models used to evaluate our 

exposures failed to account for the fact that the resident population on the base was exposed 24 hours a 

day and 7 days a week throughout the year. The PHA also underestimated the amount of contaminated 

water consumed by the personnel exposed on the base. To add insult to injury, the supporting interviews 

and documentation for the agency’s work on the assessment were allegedly “accidently destroyed” by a 

contractor after the assessment was published. What this meant, was that there was no way for other 

scientists or the affected community to fact check ATSDR’s work. The breaking point for ATSDR came 

when members of the Community Assistance Panel (CAP) for Camp Lejeune correctly identified that 

well HP-602 was discovered contaminated with fuel products while the well was actively pumping 

water for the Hadnot Point Water Treatment Plant. ATSDR’s leadership found their prior position that 

no direct proof existed that benzene was in our water, suddenly untenable. On 28 April 2009, the 

ATSDR withdrew their Camp Lejeune PHA at our CAP meeting held in Atlanta. This event was the first 

time a PHA was withdrawn in the agencies history.  

 

The ATSDR PHA for Camp Lejeune was not the only report which failed to address the benzene 

exposure at Camp Lejeune. In June of last year, the National Research Council (NRC) released their 

controversial report on Camp Lejeune.
106

 This report was the result of well intended, but poorly 

overseen legislation, in which the Department of the Navy was allowed to write the charge, or directions 
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to the scientist on how to conduct their review of scientific literature concerning the chemicals we were 

exposed to at Camp Lejeune. The committee focused their efforts on PCE and TCE and omitted benzene 

in their evaluations and assessments. I am not a scientist and thus not qualified to comment on the 

specifics of why the report is flawed. This area has been openly addressed by other scientists including 

one who participated in a peer review of the NRC report and who is present today as a witness before 

the committee. I will defer discussion of the scientific issues about the validity of the NRC to Dr. 

Richard Clapp of Boston University.  However, there are some non scientific issues that have come to 

light concerning the report. First and foremost, shortly after the report was released to the public, we 

discovered that the National Academy of Science entered into a $600,000 contract with the Department 

of Defense to effectively serve as the DOD’s hired gun and consultant for work at Camp Lejeune. What 

was more disturbing was that the contract was negotiated and signed while the NRC committee was 

engaged in their work on the Camp Lejeune NRC report.
107

 Earlier this year, we learned that the 

National Academies quietly dissolved the contract with the DOD.  

 

Shortly after the NRC report was released, the Marine Corps mailed a letter signed by Major 

General Payne to every registrant with the Marine Corps for Camp Lejeune. The letter notified the 

registrants that ATSDR withdrew their PHA for Camp Lejeune because of the omission of benzene 

contamination but was written in such a way as to infer the NRC committee did review and assess the 

benzene exposures at Camp Lejeune.
108

 What is puzzling is that much of what we now know about the 

benzene contamination was not provided to the NRC reviewers. Like ATSDR, there are no supporting 

documents indicating that the NRC Committee members knew of the existence of up to 1.1 million 
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gallons of fuel lost into the groundwater at Camp Lejeune.
109

 It is a mystery how the Marine Corps and 

Major General Payne are able to conclude that the NRC did indeed evaluate and assess our benzene 

exposures in the drinking water at Camp Lejeune.  

 

Just how did the Hadnot Point Fuel Farm’s massive fuel loss escape the attention of ATSDR in 

their 1997 PHA? We may never know the complete answer to that question but what the historical 

documents make clear is that ATSDR should have known about our benzene exposures, investigated 

them and assessed the risk of those exposures. The Navy and Marine Corps were also complicit in 

casting a shroud over the fuel losses at the Hadnot Point Fuel Farm. It was their base, their facility where 

the contamination occurred, their documents detailed the extent of the contamination and their people 

were the ones exposed. The Navy and Marine Corps had a moral obligation to ensure the State and 

Federal regulatory agencies, especially the ATSDR knew we were exposed to benzene. If the 

subcontractor for the ATSDR had not found the UST portal in 2009, just when did the Navy and Marine 

Corps plan to disclose the fuel losses at Hadnot Point? Was this a game of catch me if you can?  

 

The defunct ATSDR PHA did contain a reference to a Marine Corps sponsored report on the 

Hadnot Point Industrial Area issued in May of 1988. Contained on page 18 of 373 is a statement by the 

contractor in which benzene was described as a contaminant in well 602. The lost fuel was also found in 

the deep aquifer at Hadnot Point.
110

 There was no excuse for the personnel working for ATSDR at that 

time to have missed this vital fact which confirmed benzene was a major contaminant at Camp Lejeune. 

However, with this being said, once it was established that the ATSDR was in error, the 1997 PHA for 
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Camp Lejeune was rescinded. The same was not true for the polluter. Instead of acknowledging their 

role in the omission of benzene in the PHA by ATSDR, the Navy and Marine Corps leveled sole blame 

at the ATSDR: 

“If benzene was not fully addressed in the PHA, it was not for lack of data.”
111

 

 

 According to Col Tokarz’s March 1988 letter concerning the Hadnot Point Fuel farm, the 

upcoming Technical Review Committee (TRC) was slated to discuss the details about the HPFF and 

fully explain the situation to the members of the committee which included the community and 

representatives of the EPA. 
112

 Four months later, the first TRC meeting took place aboard Camp 

Lejeune. The TRC was a requirement of CERCLA and served to bring the affected community, DOD 

and EPA together to discuss developments for cleaning up the base. When the time came to discuss the 

Hadnot Point Fuel Farm, as promised in Tokarz’s letter, something entirely different happened:  

Cheryl Barnett, LantDiv: “Well, they’re part of the other 22 sites that we said we are looking at, we just don’t 

have any data to present to you today.”
113

 

 

Earlier in the meeting, the base environmental engineer was asked what kind of readings were found in 

the water samples from the 1980’s. Mr. Alexander who was present during that time period and fulfilled 

the role of base environmental engineer stated: 

“We had very little, if any data, before we realized our groundwater was contaminated.”
114

 

 

Why the deception? In December 1988, the O’Brien and Gere Contaminated Ground Water Study for 

Camp Lejeune was released. The report identified two pools of free floating gasoline in the groundwater 

at Hadnot Point. The engineers were unable to clearly define the exact boundaries and extent of the 
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plumes. Clearly, the fuel contamination was much worse than the 23,150 to 33,150 gallons cited in base 

inventory records.
115

 

 

Sometime between 1985 and 1990, the Navy moved handling of the HPFF fuel loss problem to 

LantDiv’s Uunderground Storage Tank Program. We have been unable to ascertain the exact date and 

how this was accomplished. The Navy stated in their 2009 written responses to Senator Burr and Hagan 

that: 

“After 1986, the sites were evaluated to determine whether they were under the CERCLA, in which the EPA or 

RCRA, in which the state has primacy.  In 1988 it was determined that corrective action at the HPFF fell under 

RCRA and therefore the State of North Carolina had primacy.”
116

 

 

Apparently, the Navy and Marine Corps forgot to inform the EPA of their evaluation. There was another 

problem with their arbitrary determination. The CERCLA vs. RCRA delineations did not apply if mixed 

contaminants were present. If mixed contaminants were present at a Superfund site, CERCLA is 

primary. The issue came to a head at a TRC meeting in July of 1990. During the meeting, Camp Lejeune 

officials informed the EPA representative that HPFF was not part of the Federal Facilities Agreement 

and thus out of the purview of the EPA.  Base officials advised the EPA that a fuel recovery system for 

the HPFF was finalized and ready for bidding. Once bidding was completed, the Navy and Marine 

Corps were ready to begin remediation of the shallow aquifer around the HPFF. The EPA 

representative, Victor Weeks, disagreed and advised the attendees of the meeting there was a mixing of 

solvent plumes and fuel plumes and as such, the groundwater cleanup in the HPIA is all interconnected.  

“Just because it’s an underground storage tank at this point doesn’t matter to us because we have a combined plume.” 

Mr. Weeks went on to conclude: “If this was an isolated area separated from Hadnot Point, we could agree with 
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that (Handling under the state’s UST program) we feel like it’s part of the CERCLA program as well”. He also warned 

that the Navy was doing work at their own risk.
117

 

 

 By April of 1992, Mr. Weeks was no longer the EPA representative working on Camp Lejeune. 

The EPA replacement received a letter from Paul Rakowski at LantDiv requesting that the HPFF be 

exempt from CERCLA under the petroleum exclusion because Jet Fuel was the only source of 

contamination at the HPFF.
118

 Shortly afterwards the HPFF was officially moved to the RCRA program 

and under the purview of the State of North Carolina. The result of this move was the HPFF was 

dropped from CERCLA and corresponding reports pertaining to CERCLA sites on the base. For 

example, the 1994 Final Remedial Investigation Report for Operable Unit 1 (Sites 21, 24 and 78 in the 

Hadnot Point Industrial Area) mentions the existence of the HPFF within the Operable Unit, but then the 

report added that: 

“Since the fuel farm area is a UST problem, it is not included as part of the CERCLA RI/FS process, but is being 

handled as a separate study under the UST Program.”
119

 

 

Another result of the move from RCRA to CERCLA was that documents pertaining to the UST Program 

were not required to be filed for public view in the CERCLA Administrative Record. This is evident 

when one compares the CERCLA administrative records file to what was filed with the State of North 

Carolina. The end result was that control of information concerning the Hadnot Point Fuel Farm lay at 

the discretion of the Navy and what reports they chose to submit to the State of North Carolina.  The 

EPA was effectively out of the HPFF picture.  

 

                                                 
117 Cerlca 493, Pdf pp 4-11, July 1990.  
118 Cercla 724, April 1992.  
119 Cercla 1161, Pdf page 78, June 1994.  



Testimony of Michael Partain 
 

41 

 

 A July 1994 court recorded public hearing was held at Camp Lejeune concerning the proposed 

clean up for the Hadnot Point Industrial area, except the HPFF. A base representative was asked why 

there was no public hearing for the HPFF. Neal Paul, The base Installation Restoration Program 

Manager for Camp Lejeune responded: 

“There are some public relations requirements and this predates me.” 

 

Mr. Paul failed to answer the question and advised the attendees of the meeting: 

“to date there’s like 25,000 gallons of gasoline from the inventory records that were shown to be missing. And to date we 

have recovered about 20,000 gallons of gasoline.” 

 

“but the plume treatment is pretty close to being remediated.” 

 

“If you get 75% of the free product that you think you spilled into the groundwater, then you’re doing a great job, and 20 

out of 25 is almost 80 percent. So, we done probably as good as we can do.” 

 

“And that is really one of our big success stories.” 

 

“From the people I’ve talk to in the state agree it is a success.”
120

 

 

Two years later a partnering meeting hosted by Mr. Paul was held at Camp Lejeune. The attendees 

included base officials, the Navy’s contractor for the remediation work on the base, representatives from 

the State of North Carolina, EPA and personnel from LantDiv. The meeting was not open to the public. 

A contractor for the Navy advised the attendees that based on data from an engineering contractor 

working on the HPFF, an estimated 800,000 gallons of fuel had been lost at the HPFF and benzene was 

appearing in the deep aquifer.
121

 Notably absent from the meeting were representatives from the 

ATSDR. The ATSDR 1997 PHA for Camp Lejeune was still in draft form at the time of the meeting. 

The brief reference to the 800,000 gallon fuel loss was the only place we have found in the entire 

CERCLA library which quantified the size and scope of the fuel plumes at Hadnot Point and is more 

than the disclosed 23,150 to 33,150 gallons lost in Marine Corps inventory records.  
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 The former base Fleet Service and Refueling area was located within 300 feet and up-gradient 

from well HP-602. Buildings 1100, 1111, 1115 and seven underground storage tanks comprised the 

facility. The USTs were intra-connected to the fuel farm by underground piping.
122

 The facility served 

as a service station from 1957-1965, and administrative office from 1965-1972, a data processing center 

1972-1976 and a printing plant from 1976-1986.
123

The tanks were removed from the ground in 1993 and 

the contents of the tanks were described as diesel fuel and gasoline.
124

Building 1115 turned out to be a 

separate and distinct source of fuel loss at the Hadnot Point Industrial Area. Last week the Navy released 

many of the documents on the web portal discovered by ATSDR last year to the public. We are 

currently reviewing this previously undisclosed document library and we are finding indications organic 

solvents were mixed in the fuel plume at this site. As far as we know, no specific risk assessment or 

remedial investigation was ever performed for building 1115. Instead, the Navy sent a letter to the State 

of North Carolina advising the State that building 1115 was being incorporated into the Hadnot Point 

Fuel Farm and the two were handled as one site.
125

 Who gave the Navy the authority to make this 

decision and why was it not challenged by the EPA? Building 1115 was only mentioned in the CLW and 

CERLCA libraries. The extent of the contamination found in the groundwater underneath the former 

Fleet Service and Refueling Area was not previously disclosed to ATSDR. Details of the contaminants 

found at building 1115 are currently surfacing as we review the documents.  The concealment of 

building 1115 did not stop with ATSDR. In 1991 the EPA queried the Navy whether USTs existed at 

building 1100/1115.
126

 Paul Rakoswki from LantDiv responded that a leaking 55 gallon drum of PCE 

was found at the site but failed to answer the EPA’s question on the USTs.
127

 If one agency of our 
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government chooses to misrepresent and conceal material facts to Federal regulators in another agency 

and nothing happens when the truth is revealed, where is the accountability?  

 

 It is now thirteen years since the release of the 1997 Public Health Assessment for Camp Lejeune 

and the community still has no clear answer to what happened to us while we or our loved ones served 

our country. Our country has seen a renewed appreciation for our volunteer military and the sacrifices 

made by our fighting men, women and their families. It is hard to drive down the road without seeing a 

“support the troops” ribbon on someone’s car. How can we profess respect for our military personnel 

and families when in their time of need, this country not only abandoned them but abandoned their 

families as well. We trusted the Marine Corps would do the right thing for their Marines and their 

families. We trusted that the EPA and the State of North Carolina would ensure the Marine Corps fully 

disclosed the extent of the contamination at Camp Lejeune. The subtitle of this hearing is “Looking 

back, Moving Froward.” We looked back and found the Marine Corps’ statements do not match the 

historical documents. We can not move forward with understanding the Camp Lejeune drinking water 

contamination unless there is a full disclosure from the Navy and Marine Corps. We can not rely on the 

agencies of the Executive branch to provide our answers. The Department of Defense was the polluter. 

The Department of Justice represents the government for all claims brought against the Navy and 

Marine Corps and overruled the EPA special agent investigating government wrong doing at Camp 

Lejeune. Congress is where this issue must be resolved. What other measures has the DoJ taken to 

bolster their defense for the government? Our exposures are known and well documented. The 

negligence of the Marine Corps is clear. There are thousands of Marines, Sailors, their family members 

and base employees who were sickened by he fouled water at Camp Lejeune. When will this country 

fulfill our commitment to support the troops?  


